Labor Agreement

By and between

City of Longview

and

Longview Employees'

Bargaining Association

2015 - 2017

Table of Contents

Article 1	Preamble	2
Article 2	Association Representation & Recognition	2
Article 3	Management Rights	4
Article 4	City Security	5
Article 5	Selection & Employment	5
Article 6	Commercial Driver's License (CDL Requirement)	6
Article 7	Work Schedule, Hours of Work & Overtime	8
Article 8	Holidays	11
Article 9	Vacation	13
Article 10	Vacation Sellback & Termination Payoff	14
Article 11	Medical and Insurance Benefits	14
Article 12	Sick Leave	16
Article 13	Bereavement Leave	19
Article 14	Occupational Disability Allowance	19
Article 15	Jury Duty	20
Article 16	Other Leaves of Absence	20
Article 17	Termination of Employment	21
Article 18	Grievance Procedure	22
Article 19	Arbitration Procedure	22
Article 20	Discipline/Discharge/Suspension	24
Article 21	Salaries	25
Article 22	Seniority	25
Article 23	Tuition Reimbursement	25
Article 24	Layoff	26
Article 25	Special Allowance	29
Article 26	Working Out of Classification	29
Article 27	Savings Clause	30
Article 28	Entire Agreement	30
Article 29	Termination and Renewal	31
Appendix "A	A" Bargaining Unit Positions	32
Appendix "I	B" Medical Insurance Rate Tables	33
Appendix "C	C" 2012 EBA Salary Schedules	35

Article 1 - Preamble

- 1.1 This Agreement is hereby made and entered into by and between the City of Longview, hereinafter referred to as the "City", and the Employees' Bargaining Association, hereinafter referred to as the "Association".
- 1.2 It is the purpose of this Agreement to set forth the full and complete agreement between the parties with regard to wages, hours, and conditions of employment.
- 1.3 The City and the Association agree to cooperate to provide the public with efficient, uninterrupted, and cost-effective delivery of public services, as well as establishing fair and reasonable compensation and working conditions for the membership of the Association. The parties will work together to address and adapt to the inevitable issues of changing circumstances of their particular areas of responsibility. Therefore, this Agreement, and the procedures that it establishes for the resolution of differences, is intended to contribute to the continuation of good employee relations and to be, in all respects in the public interest.
- 1.4 The provisions of the City's Human Resources Manual and related administrative policies as amended from time to time, shall apply to all questions and issues not specifically covered by this Agreement. When changes are proposed, the City will give the union president a period of ten (10) days to comment. All policy changes are subject to City Manager's final approval.

Article 2 - Association Recognition, Representation and Related Activities

- 2.1 The City recognizes the Association as the exclusive collective bargaining representative for all full-time and percentage regular positions represented by the attached list (Appendix "A").
- 2.2 The Association will represent all employees in the bargaining unit equally and without discrimination.
- As a condition of employment, employees covered by this Agreement shall, within ninety (90) days following their first date of employment, become and remain members in good standing in the Association.
- 2.4 Upon being furnished individual authorization cards for payroll deduction signed by each employee who is an Association member, the City shall deduct the amount shown on the authorization card. The City shall deliver this sum monthly to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Association. If an employee has no check coming to him/her or their payroll check is insufficient to cover the dues, no deductions shall be made from the employee's pay for that month.

In the event the membership of the Association formally acts to increase the amount of the payroll deduction for Association dues, the Association shall so certify to the City in writing. The City shall, in turn, request a signature acknowledgment of the notice of the increase from each employee whose position is represented by the Association.

- 2.5 Upon being furnished individual authorization cards for payroll deduction signed by each employee whose position is represented by the Association and who is a fair share payment in lieu of dues employee, the City shall deduct the amount shown on the authorization card. The City shall deliver this sum monthly to the Secretary/Treasurer of the Association. If an employee has no check coming to him/her, or their payroll check is insufficient to cover the fair share payment in lieu of dues, no deduction shall be made from the employee's pay for that month.
 - In the event the membership of the Association formally acts to increase the amount of the payroll deduction for Association dues, the Association shall so certify to the City in writing. The City shall, in turn, request a signature acknowledgment of the notice of the increase from each employee whose position is represented by the Association.
- 2.6 Pursuant to state law, the foregoing provisions of this Article shall not apply to employees who are bona fide members of a church or religious body whose religious tenets or teachings prohibit membership in employee unions. However, every such employee shall pay an amount of money equivalent to regular Association dues to a charitable organization mutually agreed upon by the employee affected and the Association. The employee shall furnish written proof that such payment has been made.
- 2.7 The Association agrees to refrain from making changes in the schedule of Association dues or fees in the months of December and January. The Employer is authorized to charge the Association a flat amount service fee of one hundred dollars (\$100) in the event the Association changes fees or assessments more than one time per calendar year. The Association shall remit the appropriate amount to the employer by the 10th day of the month in which notice of the Association dues, fair share payment in lieu of dues, or initiation fee change is received by the employer.
- 2.8 The City agrees to furnish to the Association on a monthly basis a list of newly hired employees and position titles represented by "Appendix A". The list shall include the employee's name, date of hire, classification and the department to which he or she is assigned.
- 2.9 The Association agrees to indemnify and hold the City harmless against any and all claims, demands or suits brought or issued that may arise against the City as a result of any action taken or not taken by the City under the provisions of this Article.
- 2.10 All rights, privileges and working conditions enjoyed by the employees at the signing of this Agreement, not in conflict with Article 3, Management Rights, shall remain in full force, unchanged and unaffected in any manner, during the term of this Agreement unless changed by mutual consent.
- 2.11 The Association shall inform the City in writing of the names of its officers and stewards who are authorized to represent the Association. Such information shall be kept up to date.
- 2.12 Release Time. With adequate advance notification to the supervisor, an Association officer or designated steward shall be allowed reasonable release time without loss of pay for the purposes of participating in disciplinary hearings and grievance meetings up to the level of arbitration where such official/steward acted as the employee representative or was otherwise

directly involved in the situation. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to require employees to receive compensation from the employer for representation activities not specifically addressed in this section, or that occur outside of the employee's regularly scheduled work hours or for such time to be counted as time worked for overtime purposes. Association representatives shall not use work hours for solicitation of Association membership, collection or checking of dues, Association meetings or other activities relating to the internal business/administration of the Association.

2.13 Labor/Management Communications. The parties agree to conduct labor management meetings as needed to discuss issues of mutual concern. Labor Management meetings shall not be in lieu of the Grievance Procedure described in this Agreement. Up to three Association members will be allowed to attend such meetings without loss of pay as provided in the aforementioned "release time" section.

Article 3 - Management Rights

- 3.1 Except as otherwise expressly and specifically limited by the terms of this Agreement, the City retains all its customary, usual, and exclusive rights, decision making, prerogatives, functions and authority connected with or in any way incidental to its responsibility to manage the affairs of the City or any part of the City. The City agrees to notify the Association of any significant changes in operations prior to their implementation; however, it is understood that Association approval is not required prior to the implementation of such changes. The rights of employees in the bargaining unit, and the Association there under, are expressly limited to those specifically set forth in the agreement.
- 3.2 Without limitation, but by way of illustration, some of the exclusive prerogatives, functions, and rights of the City shall include the following:
 - A. To direct and supervise all operations, functions and policies of the department in which the employees of the bargaining unit are employed, and operations, functions and policies in the remainder of the City as they may affect employees in the bargaining unit which do not violate this Agreement.
 - B. To close or liquidate an office, branch, operations or facility, or combination of facilities, or to relocate, reorganize, or combine the work of divisions, offices, branches, operations or facilities for budgetary or other reasons.
 - C. To contract out work as seems prudent to the City.
 - D. To determine the need for a reduction or an increase in the work force and the implementation of any decision with regards thereto.
 - E. To establish, revise, and implement standards for quality of work, safety, materials, equipment, uniforms, appearances, methods and procedures. It is jointly recognized that the City must retain broad authority to fulfill its responsibilities and may do so by oral or written work rules.
 - F. To manage and direct the work force, including, but not limited to: the right to determine the methods, processes and manner of performing work; fitness for work,

- the right to hire, promote, transfer and retain employees in accordance with this Agreement; the right to reorganize, the right to determine schedules of work, and the right to dispose of, purchase, and assign equipment or supplies.
- G. To discipline, suspend, demote or discharge an employee.
- H. To determine the need for additional education courses, training programs, on-the-job training and cross training and to assign employees to such duties for periods to be determined by the employer.

Article 4 - City Security

- 4.1 The Association shall not cause or counsel its members to participate in a strike, nor shall it in any manner cause them to either directly or indirectly commit any acts of work stoppage, slowdown, or refusal to perform any assigned duties.
- 4.2 Any employee who commits any of the acts prohibited in this Article shall be subject to disciplinary action as determined by the City.
- 4.3 In the event of a strike or other work action in any form, either on the basis of individual choice or collective employee conduct, the Association shall make every effort, including public appeals, to secure an immediate and orderly return to work.
- 4.4 It is mutually agreed that the provisions of this Article shall not be subject to the grievance procedure of this Agreement.
- 4.5 Members of the bargaining unit agree that they will not honor any picket line established by any labor organization when called upon to cross such picket line in the performance of duty.
- 4.6 The City shall not institute a lockout of employees.

Article 5 - Selection & Employment

- 5.1 Available positions in the City service shall be publicized at least ten (10) calendar days prior to the deadline for filing application for such a position by posting of job announcements on designated City bulletin boards and by such other means as the Human Resources Department deems necessary. The job announcement shall contain a brief description of duties, minimum qualifications desired, filing deadline and method of selection. Only qualified candidates who apply within the established filing period will receive consideration for such vacancies.
- When, in the judgment of the Human Resources Department, sufficient candidates from within the City are qualified, available, and interested, the recruitment may be restricted to internal candidates. Promotional recruitments may be further restricted to employees of a particular bargaining unit or department.
- 5.3 Employees may apply for open recruitments and will receive consideration if they meet all required qualifications. When the selection decision is narrowed to two individuals and the

- knowledge, skills, and abilities of the candidates are substantially equal, preference shall be granted first to internal candidates, seniority considered.
- An employee transferring to a new Association or non-represented position may, with both supervisors' permission, have a ninety (90) calendar day period (bump back privilege) to assess the new position. Final decision to accept the new Association or non-represented position must be made within ninety (90) calendar days.
- 5.5 When appropriate, confirmation of selection for full time, regular employment is dependent on the chosen applicant passing a pre-employment physical examination from a licensed physician as designated by the City. Pre-employment physical examinations are initially paid by the City. In the event that an employee terminates employment with the City (either voluntarily or involuntarily), before he/she has completed twelve (12) consecutive months of continuous service, the cost of the physical examination will be deducted from the employee's final paycheck. NOTE: This clause shall not preclude other pre-employment test or evaluation processes as determined necessary by the City.
- 5.6 City employees shall reside within a thirty (30) minute driving response time under normal driving conditions to insure emergency response.
- 5.7 All original appointments shall be tentative and require a probationary period of at least twelve (12) months. However, anytime within the twelve month period, if in the opinion of the Department Head, the probationary employee will not be able to successfully learn and perform the job for which he/she was hired, his/her employment may be terminated.
- 5.8 Promotional appointments or transfers from one Association or non-represented position to another shall be tentative and require a probationary period of at least ninety (90) calendar days unless the head of that department decides to extend the probationary period for an additional ninety (90) days.
- 5.9 An employee who is promoted shall receive the starting salary of the higher position, or a step increase of between four (4) and six (6) percent, whichever is greater, provided that the appropriate increase does not increase the pay beyond the top of the new salary range.

Article 6 - Commercial Driver's License (CDL) Requirement

- 6.1 If the City requires a new or current employee to obtain a Commercial Driver's License (CDL) with proper endorsements, that employee shall do so in accordance with State and Federal regulations. For the purposes of this Article 6, "current employee" means a regular full-time City employee with two or more years of service
- 6.2 For the above employees, the City agrees to the following:
 - A. The City agrees to pay the cost of all training required by state and federal regulations. The City will provide or arrange for the CDL training one time only. Any additional training and attempts to successfully pass the various exams will be paid by the employee. Should the employee fail to successfully pass the license exams within three attempts, the employee shall reimburse the City the cost of the training paid for by the City. This provision may be waived by the department head at his/her sole discretion

- contingent upon the employee successfully passing the required examinations and obtaining a CDL within a reasonable period of time after completing the City-provided training. Except under extenuating circumstances, reasonable period of time shall generally mean ninety (90) days following completion of the City-provided training.
- B. The City agrees to pay the cost of the CDL physical examination administered by the City's contracted provider and as required by law. If the employee elects to obtain the required physical elsewhere, the City will pay for any co-payment required by the employee's insurance company up to fifty dollars (\$50.00). The City will pay the cost of one CDL physical examination per new license or license renewal. Should the employee fail the CDL physical examination, the employee shall be responsible for the costs of all further or repeat examinations to obtain the new license or license renewal.
- C. The City will pay the costs of the required written exams and driving tests for the required license and endorsements. Further, the City will provide or pay the cost to provide a vehicle appropriate for the employee to take the driving tests. Should the employee fail to pass the driving test(s) within the number of attempts included in the testing fee and the fee paid to provide a suitable vehicle for the driving test, the employee shall pay the fees for additional testing and the cost of providing an appropriate vehicle for all additional tests.
- D. The City will pay the CDL license fee (first time fee and renewal) and the fees for any other required endorsements and related testing.
- E. The employee is responsible for obtaining and paying the fees for their own basic Washington State driver's license, and for all endorsements not required by the City.
- F. The City is not responsible for renewal of lost cards.
- G. Employees are responsible for:
 - 1. Passing the knowledge test.
 - 2. Passing the skills test.
 - 3. Paying for the cost of re-testing if they fail to pass on the three attempts provided by the initial City-paid exam fee.
 - 4. Passing the physical exam, which will include a urinalysis.
 - 5. Paying for all required costs if they lose their card.
 - 6. Maintaining their license and endorsements as a requirement of their employment with the City, including maintaining medical eligibility and certification
 - 7. Notifying the City of any actions affecting the validity of their CDL.
 - 8. Executing a CDL training reimbursement agreement prior to beginning the training.
- H. The value of the CDL training, education, certification, and license furnished by the City to the employee is significant. In the event the employee should voluntarily terminate his or her employment with the City, is terminated for cause, or fails to successfully complete the new employee probationary period, the employee shall repay to the City the expenses incurred for the employee to obtain a CDL, in accordance with the following provisions:
 - 1. If such termination occurs within 24 calendar months of the date of completing the training, the employee shall pay the City the entire amount of the CDL certification costs identified above.

- 2. If such termination occurs after 24 calendar months but within 36 calendar months of the date of completing the training, the employee shall pay the City the sum equal to 75% of the entire amount of the CDL certification cost identified above.
- 3. For new employees only, if such termination occurs after 36 calendar months but within 60 calendar months of the date of completing the training, the employee shall pay the City the sum equal to 50% of the entire amount of the CDL certification cost identified above.
- 4. Payment to the City shall be made within thirty (30) days after the date of termination. The employee shall execute a CDL training reimbursement agreement authorizing the City to withhold from any salary or any other amounts owing to the employee by the City, up to the total sum identified.
- 5. In the event the City should incur any costs of collection, including attorney's fees and/or court costs, the amount thereof shall be added to the amount owing to the City by the employee.

Article 7 - Work Schedule, Hours of Work & Overtime

7.1 For purposes of this Agreement, represented employees are defined as follows:

Regular, Full-time (Type A): An employee who is scheduled to work forty (40) hours per week, or a minimum of 2,080 hours per year, including paid leave time taken, in a classified, City Council approved and budgeted position. A Regular, Full-time (Type A) employee is paid a monthly salary based on actual hours worked, and is eligible for holiday pay, vacation and sick leave accrual and participation in the City's medical benefits plan.

Regular, Percentage (Type B): An employee who is scheduled to work less than forty (40) hours per week, but at least twenty (20) hours per week, including paid leave taken, in a classified, City Council approved, and budgeted position. A Regular, Percentage (Type B) employee is assigned regularly scheduled shifts on a year round basis; is paid a monthly salary based on actual hours worked,; and is eligible for holiday pay, vacation and sick leave accrual, and participation in the City's medical benefits plan. Regular, Percentage (Type B) employees receive benefits and accrue leave time on a pro-rated basis, depending on the number of hours employee is scheduled to work.

7.2 Work schedules and hours of work are specific management prerogatives and are promulgated by the Supervisor or head of the respective Department or Division. Generally, the City will assign regular full-time employees to a work schedule of five (5) consecutive workdays of eight (8) consecutive hours, excluding lunch periods, followed by two (2) days off.

The City may also assign employees to work any one of the following alternative work schedules needed to accomplish their assigned tasks and objectives:

1. Four (4) days of ten (10) hours, excluding lunch periods. Such 4-10 schedules shall provide a minimum of two consecutive days off in each 7 day workweek.

- 2. Four days of nine (9) hours and a day of four (4) hours, excluding lunch periods.
- 3. Other work schedules as arranged by mutual agreement between the employee and Department Head.
- 4. No work schedule is permitted which would result in the payment of overtime for hours worked during the regular work shift.

Work schedules for Percentage employees shall be determined by the supervisor based on the operational needs of the department. Modifications to established schedules shall be made by mutual agreement between the parties' whenever possible. In the event a schedule modification is subject to dispute, the parties agree to meet and discuss concerns regarding the modification no less than five days after the announced change, and before its implementation (except in the event of an emergency). If the parties do not reach an agreement regarding the schedule change the Department Head will review the situation and make a final determination based on the legitimate needs of the department. The Department Head's decision shall be considered final and is not subject to appeal through the grievance procedure.

Except in cases of emergency or other unavoidable circumstances beyond the City's control, regular full-time employees shall be notified of changes in their established work schedule at least seven (7) days in advance of their effective date. Schedule changes made in non-emergency situations with less than seven (7) days notice shall result in the payment of overtime for all work hours outside of the normal shift until the seven (7) day notice period has elapsed.

- 7.3 With advance approval of the appropriate Department Head or designee, employees may "flex" their schedules within a single workweek, for example working a nine-hour day followed by a seven-hour day to accommodate personal or work situations. This section is intended to address occasional or intermittent changes to the schedule. Schedule adjustments as described in this section are voluntary and shall not result in the payment of daily overtime premiums.
- Meals and Breaks. All regular full-time_employees shall have one unpaid meal period at the approximate midpoint of each work shift of five (5) hours or more and two (2) paid rest periods of fifteen (15) minutes each, one in each half of a full-time shift. Percentage employees shall receive rest periods of fifteen (15) minutes in accordance with state law/guidelines. Employees may not forego a meal or break period to curtail the length of their working day. Where the nature of the work permits an employee to take an intermittent rest break equivalent to fifteen (15) minutes for each half shift worked, scheduled rest periods are not required.

Except in the case where an employee is subject to interruption or "on call" during a meal period i.e. employees of the Filter plant, meal periods shall be unpaid and excluded from scheduled work hours.

Employees working overtime as an extension of their regular work shift (more than an eight (8) or ten (10) hour shift) shall receive a paid rest period of fifteen (15) minutes after working more than two hours as a continuation of their shift. Employees working more than 4 hours as a continuation of their shift shall receive an additional meal break paid or unpaid at the supervisor's discretion.

- 7.5 Overtime. All overtime must receive prior authorization from the employee's Department Head or his/her authorized representative prior to being worked. The FLSA work period for calculation of overtime shall be a period of seven consecutive twenty-four hour days. The City retains the right to designate when the work period begins and ends depending on the employee's work schedule. Unless specifically designated, the workweek will run from 12:01 am Sunday to 12:00 am Saturday.
- Regular overtime. Regular overtime is overtime work approved and prearranged with not less than four (4) hours advance notice. Regular overtime shall be paid, to the nearest quarter hour, at time and one-half (1-1/2) the regular, hourly rate of pay for time worked in excess of forty (40) hours in the designated workweek. Regular overtime shall be recorded as of the shift it is worked and will be paid at time and one half (1-1/2) after forty (40) hours in the workweek. The number of regularly scheduled hours in a shift shall not be decreased within a workweek for the sole purpose of avoiding the payment of overtime.

Regular overtime shall also apply to work related phone calls. For the purposes of this section work related phone calls are defined as contact made to address an emergency issue that cannot wait until the employee's next regularly scheduled work shift and that consumes five or more minutes of the employee(s) time. For example, a supervisor calling an employee to discuss a technical problem they are having with some equipment or calling in a crew to deal with an emergency issue, when such phone conversation(s) takes more than five minutes in total, would be submitted as regular overtime as provided in this section. However, a phone call to ask an employee to report to work or to ask a quick question that takes only a few moments to conclude would not be treated as compensable work time.

7.7 <u>Unscheduled Overtime</u>. Unscheduled overtime is approved overtime work for which prior notification of the minimum four (4) hours is not possible. The first sixty (60) minutes of unscheduled overtime worked contiguous to the regularly scheduled shift/day shall be considered as an extension of the shift and shall be compensated at time and one half (1-1/2) the regular, hourly rate of pay, once the employee has exceeded forty (40) hours in the work week.

For unscheduled overtime worked contiguous to the first sixty (60) minutes before or after the regularly scheduled shift/day, Employees shall be compensated, to the nearest quarter hour, at double the regular hourly rate of pay, regardless of whether or not the employee works a total of forty (40) hours in the workweek.

Here is an illustration of the aforementioned section – if an employee is called into work two hours prior to the start of their work shift they would receive double time for the first hour

worked and time and one half for the second hour worked prior to the start of their work shift. If they are called into work 45 minutes prior to the start of their work shift they would receive time and a half for time worked prior to their regular work shift. Time worked after their regular work shift would be treated in the same manner.

- 7.8 <u>Callback Overtime</u>. Callback is approved, but unscheduled, non-prearranged work (as defined above), which is not contiguous to the regular work shift or occurs on a scheduled day off when an employee is called back to work. Callback overtime shall be compensated, at double the employee's regular, hourly rate of pay. Employees shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours of overtime pay when called back to work as described herein.
- 7.9 Regular, Percentage (Type B) employees shall receive overtime premium pay only when their work time exceeds forty (40) hours in the workweek.
- 7.10 Employees may accrue, with the approval of their supervisor, equal compensatory time in lieu of payment for overtime work, up to a maximum balance of eighty (80) hours. Such compensatory time may be taken as time off as approved by the employee's supervisor. Once an employee's balance of compensatory time exceeds the eighty (80) hour maximum, they shall be paid for all overtime worked. Unused compensatory time shall be paid off at the employee's regular rate at the time of termination, or transfer to another department or different paying classification.
- 7.11 When an employee has received less than ten hours advance notice of overtime to be worked, said employee shall be provided a meal allowance of \$9.00 for each four (4) hours of continuous overtime worked, not to exceed two allowances in any one period of consecutive hours worked. The meal allowance will be paid to the employee on their next regularly scheduled paycheck. If working conditions warrant or if a paid meal period is granted, the City may provide employee(s) a meal in lieu of the allowance.
- 7.12 Compensation shall not be paid, nor compensatory time accrued, more than once for the same hours under any provision of this Article or other provision of this Agreement, i.e., whenever two or more overtime rates of pay may appear applicable to the same hour or hours worked by an employee, there shall be no pyramiding or adding together of such overtime rates.
- 7.13 For purposes of computing overtime, all authorized holidays that fall on an employee's regularly scheduled workday(s), sick leave, and vacation leave shall be considered time worked.
- 7.14 Hours of Work Fatigue Time. Both parties agree that employee safety is to be a number one consideration, especially when overtime is worked. As a result, except in the case of an emergency and as authorized by the City Manager, appropriate Department Head, or their designee, employees will not be permitted to work in excess of eighteen (18) consecutive hours within a 24-hour period. An employee who works in excess of 18 hours within a 24-hour period and has less than six (6) continuous hours of off-duty time before the start of their next scheduled shift, shall not report to work until the conclusion of six (6) hours of off-duty time. The employee will be compensated at their straight-time rate of the amount of time between their scheduled start of shift and the time they report to work, up to a maximum of four (4) hours. An employee who works in excess of 18 hours within a 24-hour period

and works past the start of their next scheduled shift will be relieved of duty at the completion of the task causing the excess work for a minimum of six (6) hours, and the employee will be compensated at their straight-time rate for four (4) hours. Under either circumstance, employees may choose to take the remainder of their scheduled shift off, subject to the approval of the employee's supervisor; however, the employee must use accrued sick leave, vacation, floating holiday, or compensatory time to cover the balance of the time off from their scheduled shift. If the employee does not have any accrued leave balances, the employee may take leave without pay to cover the balance of the time off from their scheduled shift.

Article 8 - Holidays

8.1 The following are official paid (8 hour) holidays for all 8 hour full time employees The eight holidays marked with an (*) will be paid at 10 hours for all employees who are participating in the City's 4-day work week and that are assigned to a 10 hour day. Additionally, 10 hour employees will be granted an additional floating holiday for the "Day after Thanksgiving" which may be used subject to the provisions for using "floaters".

(1)	New Year's Day	1st day of January*
(2)	Washington's Birthday	3rd Monday of February*
(3)	Memorial Day	Last Monday of May*
(4)	Fourth of July	4th day of July*
(5)	Labor Day	
(6)	Veteran's Day	11th day November*
(7)	Thanksgiving Day	4th Thursday of November*
(8)	Day after Thanksgiving Day	4th Friday of November
(8.5)	Floating Holiday for (10 hour employees)	Day after Thanksgiving
(9)	Christmas Day	25th day of December*
(10)	Floating Holiday	As Approved
(11)	Floating Holiday	As Approved
(12)	Floating Holiday	

The City recognizes the Martin Luther King Jr. Holiday on the 3rd Monday of January as an official unpaid holiday. On this official holiday employees may elect to take accrued paid leave such as vacation, accrued floating holiday time, or compensatory time, or they may take the day off as authorized unpaid leave.

8.2 With the exception of those offices involving emergency services, all City offices shall be closed on all of these official holidays, except for the floating holidays. When any of the above holidays fall on a Saturday or Sunday, the workday immediately preceding or following, respectively, shall be observed as the holiday. Employees shall receive the same number of holidays regardless of work schedule. If the date of observance of a holiday falls on an employee's regular day off, the employee shall receive an alternative day off within the same work period of the holiday. To be eligible for holiday pay the employee must be in paid status on the scheduled workdays immediately before and after the holiday. Employees will not receive pay for holidays occurring during an unpaid leave of absence or after the last day of work in the case of termination.

For Library employees only—if the date of observance of a holiday falls on an employee's regular day off, the employee shall receive an alternative day off within the pay period of the holiday. The intent of this language is to provide Library employees that are eligible for paid holidays the ability to take a day off within the pay period (15 day window) versus the designated work week (7 day window) in the event the holiday is recognized on their regularly scheduled day off. The department and affected employees shall be held responsible for ensuring that the paid time off/holiday is scheduled and taken during the specified pay period. Schedule requests for taking the holiday time off shall be submitted in advance to the Library Director for review and consideration. Efforts shall be made to accommodate time off preferences but scheduling shall be dependent on the staffing and operational needs of the department. Therefore individual schedule requests cannot be guaranteed.

- 8.3 Subject to the approval of the respective Department Head, an employee may take the floating holidays at such time as mutually agreeable to the employee and the Department Head. Floating holidays are credited to employees on a pro-rated basis throughout the year on set pay period dates based on the employee's regular work schedule.
- 8.4 Employees required to work on a holiday shall be compensated at time and one half in addition to holiday pay. With mutual consent of the employee and employer, employees may work on an observed holiday at the straight time rate of pay and may take an alternative day off, as prescribed in this article, in lieu of pay.
- 8.5 Employees working schedules other than a five day eight hour shift may be required, at the discretion of the Department Head, to work a five (5) day eight (8) hour work schedule during a week when a recognized holiday occurs (to include floating holidays). In the event the Department Head does not mandate such a change during a holiday week, employees working full-time alternative schedules such as a 4-10 arrangement shall receive eight (8) hours of holiday leave. Full pay for the period may be obtained by charging additional leave balances available to the employee i.e. comp-time, vacation.
- Employees assigned to the Filter Plant and regularly assigned to a five-day, eight-hour per day schedule, shall accrue four (4) hours of holiday leave per pay period, equaling the nine (9) fixed holidays and three (3) floating holidays listed in Section 8.1 for eight-hour per day employees. Employees assigned to the Filter Plant and regularly assigned to a four-day, tenhour per day schedule, shall accrue four and sixty-seven on –hundredths, (4.67) hours of holiday leave per pay period, equaling the eight (8) fixed holidays and four (4) floating holidays listed in Section 8.1. Holiday leave shall be banked as "filter holidays" and may be taken at such times as are mutually agreeable to the employee and the supervisor. Employees shall be permitted to maintain a negative balance of "filter holidays" over the course of a calendar year, but "filter holidays" shall not be carried over from year to year. A negative balance of "filter holidays" at the end of a calendar year or upon termination of employment shall be charged against the employee's vacation time or final pay as appropriate. Upon termination of employment, unused/accrued filter holiday hours shall be cashed out at the employee's regular rate of pay.

Eight-hour per day employees assigned to the Filter Plant who are scheduled to work on one of the holidays listed in Section 8.1, but who are not required to actually work on the holiday, shall use eight (8) hours of the balance of their "filter holidays" in the pay period in which the

holiday falls. Ten-hour per day employees assigned to the Filter Plant who are scheduled to work on one of the holidays listed in Section 8.1, but who are not required to actually work on the holiday, shall use then(10) hours of the balance of their "filter holidays" in the pay period in which the holiday falls.

Article 9 - Vacation

9.1 Accrual Rates.

Regular full-time employees shall accrue vacation according to the following schedule:

Years of Service	Hours per Year	Max
Start	80	NA
1	96	192
5	136	272
10	160	320
15	176	352
20	200	400

Eligible regular Percentage Type "B" employee vacation accrual is pro-rated in accordance with their reduced work schedule.

Vacation leave will accrue on a pay period basis. Leave earned one pay period shall be credited to the employee upon completion of that pay period. Vacation leave is accrued but may not be taken until after an employee has completed six (6) consecutive months of employment. Vacation leave earned during that period of time will be granted on the first day of the month immediately following completion of six months of service.

No accumulation of vacation leave shall occur when an employee is on leave without pay. Vacation leave may be taken at the request of the employee upon approval of the Supervisor or Department Head.

9.2 <u>Maximum Accumulations</u>. Employees may accumulate vacation up to a maximum of two (2) times their annual accrual rate, e.g., an employee earning 20 days/160 hours may not accumulate more than 40 days/320 hours. When an employee has reached the maximum allowable accrual, future accruals will cease until such time as the balance has been reduced to allow for additional earnings. Employees are responsible for monitoring their accruals and scheduling time off as necessary to preserve the ability to accrue vacation. Exceptions may be granted by the City Manager for circumstances where taking of leave was denied by the City or would be a detriment to the City.

Article 10 – Vacation Sellback

- 10.1 <u>Vacation Sellback</u>. Employees may elect pay in lieu of vacation up to a maximum of sixty (60) hours per calendar year. Vacation sellback is subject to the following requirements and procedures:
 - A. The opportunity to cash out vacation shall be offered twice per year in the months of June and November. Requests must be submitted by May 1st and November 1st on forms designated by the Human Resources Department. Exceptions to this timeframe will be considered only in the event of an emergency and will be permitted only as approved by the City Manager, or designee.
 - B. To be eligible to sell back vacation, an employee must have used a total of eighty (80) hours vacation and floating holiday hours combined in the prior calendar year. The total of vacation sold may not exceed the maximum hour limitation but may be apportioned according to the employee's choice between the May and November sales periods.
 - C. The vacation sellback option is subject to availability of adequate department budget funds. Vacation sales may be restricted or suspended by the Employer. In the event vacation sales requests exceed available funds, the Human Resources Department shall develop procedures to equitably apportion vacation sales among employees with pending requests.
- 10.2 <u>Termination Payoff.</u> Upon termination of City employment with more than six (6) months of service an employee shall be paid for all accrued and unused vacation, floating holidays and unused compensatory time. The termination payoff shall be based on the employee's base hourly rate of pay as of the last day of work. Employees may not elect to extend employment beyond the last day of work by using accumulated leave.

Article 11 - Medical and Insurance Benefits

11.1 The City agrees to provide long term disability insurance with a 90 day waiting period, \$50,000 life insurance, and employee assistance program coverage to all full-time employees. Employee's eligible dependents shall also be offered the opportunity to enroll in medical, dental, and vision health insurance coverage.

Optional (employee funded) insurance coverage available:

- Supplemental Life Insurance
- Long Term Care coverage
- Section 125 Flexible Savings Accounts (medical, daycare)
- 457 Deferred Compensation Plan
- Group Short Term Disability Insurance
- 11.2 The City, after consultation with the Benefits Committee, has complete authority to choose and change the providers of the medical, dental, vision, life insurance, long term disability, and employee assistance program benefits. The union reserves the right to bargain over the impacts of any substantial changes to plan design or benefit levels.

- 11.3 During the term of this agreement the city will pay the following:
 - A. Effective Jan. 1, 2015 for all eligible regular employees and eligible dependents, the Employer will pay 100% of the premium costs of either the AWC/Regence HSA Qualified High Deductible Health Plan or the Kaiser Permanente Washington HSA Qualified High Deductible Health Plan. Union employees obtaining Healthcare coverage from the Employer shall select from one of these two plans; no other Healthcare plans will be offered.
 - B. Effective Jan. 1, 2015, the City will fund a Health Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) at the rate of either \$125.00/month for single employees or \$250.00/month for employees with one or more dependents. This HRA fund will be drawn down by any deductible medical expense payments during the calendar year. Any HRA funds remaining in the account of the employee at the end of the calendar year, minus any claimed deductible expenses for that calendar year paid prior to April 1 of the following year, will be transferred to the employee's personal VEBA account on or before April 10 of the following year. HDHP deductible expenses incurred by the employee and/or their dependents that exceed the employee's HRA balance shall be paid by the Employer.
 - C. After the annual HDHP deductible is satisfied, the Employer will pay the employee's and/or their dependents co-insurance amounts of the allowed and covered medical expenses per the SPD, not to exceed the HDHP out-of-pocket maximum.
 - D. Covered medical expenses per the SPD that exceed the HDHP out-of-pocket maximum, will be paid at 100% by the HDHP.
 - E. Claims, billings, refunds, account balances, and HRA transfers to VEBA accounts will be managed by a Third Party Administrator (TPA) selected by the City.
 - F. The City will pay 80% of the applicable tiered premium for Dental Insurance (Delta Dental Plan F or Willamette Dental)
 - G. The City will pay 100% of the premium for Vision Insurance (VSP or Kaiser Vision Rider).
 - H. An employee opting out of medical/vision insurance coverage but electing to be covered by dental insurance will contribute 20% of the current dental premium.
 - I. An employee opting out of medical insurance coverage but electing to be covered by vision insurance will contribute 100% of the current vision premium.
 - J. For year 2017, both parties agree to open Article 11 for bargaining purpose of negotiating medical benefits and calculating the balance of 2015 deferred wages that may be applied to the 2017 medical premium.

- A. Employees who choose to be insured under a medical plan as a dependent (i.e. insured via a spouse's medical insurance plan), upon providing proof of said insurance coverage can elect to receive \$825.00 per month City paid contribution into a Voluntary Employee Benefit Association (VEBA) account in lieu of enrolling in the City's medical insurance coverage program. Provided that at no time the number of Association employees electing VEBA will exceed their percentage representation within the total employee census. This clause is to ensure that the City's standing in the AWC Trust is not harmed. Underwriting rules prohibit more than 25% of the City's employees from opting out of medical coverage. The City will recalculate this number each year based on the employee census on September 30. The union president will be notified annually of the maximum number of employees who may enroll in VEBA. If the number of employees reaches the maximum, no new Association employees will be allowed to elect VEBA until the number of participating Association employees is below the maximum pro-rated amount.
- B. In the unlikely event that Association employees exceed their allowed prorated representation in VEBA the last employee(s) joining may be required to drop their VEBA election and join one of the City sponsored medical plans.
- 11.4 <u>Benefits Committee</u>. The parties agree to participate in a citywide employee/labor/management benefits committee. One member from each labor group will sit on this committee along with five non-represented employees (to include management). The purposes of the committee shall include:
 - To seek ways to control health care expenses.
 - To provide means for increased employee education about insurance benefits and a means for employee input into insurance benefits carriers and plan design.
 - The committee's purpose is educational and exploratory only and the committee cannot bind the city or the respective unions to any decisions or course of action
- 11.5 <u>Continuation of Benefits</u>. Pursuant to federal law (COBRA), City employees and/or dependents that lose group health care coverage are eligible to continue participation in the group health plan for the time periods as defined in the law. The affected employee and/or dependent is responsible for the cost of the coverage plus an administrative fee.
- 11.6 Percentage Employee's Insurance Premiums. The City shall provide eligible, Percentage, Type "B", employees with a prorated insurance premium contribution. The calculation will be made by prorating the amount the City will pay for a regular full time employee's health insurance election according to the number of hours the percentage employee is scheduled to work, plus an additional 5%* (*but in no event shall a percentage employee receive a greater city contribution amount than provided for a full time employee). The difference becomes the employee's share of the insurance premium. To illustrate, a regular percentage employee who works 80% of a full-time schedule whom elects to enroll in medical/dental/vision

coverage offered, shall receive the benefit of the City paying an amount towards their elected coverage that is equal to 85% of that provided for a regular full time employee.

- 11.7 The City shall reimburse any Association member for a fitness membership subject to the following provisions:
 - The maximum monthly reimbursement shall not exceed twenty dollars (\$20) per month;
 - Each participating member must attend the gym a minimum of eight (8) times in the preceding month to be eligible for reimbursement;
 - Reimbursement will be disbursed as an allowance once a receipt for services and verification of attendance is submitted for approval to the supervisor and entered on the time sheet.

Article 12 - Sick Leave

Sick leave is provided to continue pay during illness or injury incapacitating the employee to perform his/her work, contagious disease whereby his/her attendance at work would create a direct threat to the health of coworkers or the public, or as otherwise provided by law or this Article.

12.1 Accrual. All full-time employees of the City shall be given ninety-six (96) hours of sick leave on their first day of employment. No additional sick leave shall accrue to that employee until after completion of twelve (12) months of continuous employment. Sick leave thereafter shall accrue at the rate of eight (8) hours each calendar month of continuous employment; for those hired before January 1, 2001 there is no maximum accrual limitation. However, no accumulation of sick leave shall accrue to the benefit of any employee while he/she is in unpaid leave of absence.

Eligible regular Percentage Type "B" employee sick leave accrual is pro-rated in accordance with their reduced work schedule.

For those hired after January 1, 2001, sick leave may be accumulated to a maximum of 1,200 hours.

12.2 Use of sick leave is contingent upon following required reporting procedures and compliance with the purposes of sick leave. Employees who fail to call in according to procedures or fail to provide medical verification, if properly requested, may be charged unpaid time for the absence.

Earned vacation leave and compensatory time may be used when accrued sick leave is not available for an absence necessitated by illness or injury.

12.3 <u>Sick Leave Payoff.</u> Individuals hired after January 1, 2001 are not eligible for sick leave payoff.

Employees hired before January 1, 2001, who separate from City employment voluntarily, via a reduction in workforce, or by death are eligible to be paid for accrued but unused sick leave in accordance to the following formulas/schedules:

• An employee, upon (1) regular retirement or death, (2) disability retirement after at least 20 years of service with the City, or (3) early retirement after at least 20 years of service with the City, shall be paid for up to, but not in excess of 120 days of accrued sick leave earned prior to May 1, 1979 and unused at the time of retirement. Such retiring employee shall also be paid for accrued unused sick leave to his credit earned after May 1, 1979 in accordance with the schedule set forth below.

For those employees hired on or before July 1, 1984, accrued but unused sick leave will be cashed out at the employee's base hourly rate of pay upon termination according to the following formula:

Years of Service	Amount to be Paid
Less than 10 years of full-time employment	None
After 10 years of full-time employment	12.5% of accrued unused SL
After 15 years of full-time employment	25% of accrued unused SL
After 20 years of full-time employment	37.5% of accrued unused SL
After 25 years of full-time employment	50% of accrued unused SL

Employees hired after July 1, 1984, accrued but unused sick leave will be cashed out, to a maximum accrual of 1200 hours, at the employee's base hourly rate of pay upon termination according to the following formula:

Years of Service	Amount to be Paid	Maximum Payout for those hired after 7-1-84
Less than 10 years of full-time employment	None	-NA-
After 10 years of full-time employment	12.5% of accrued unused sick leave	150 hours
After 15 years of full-time employment	25% of accrued unused sick leave	300 hours
After 20 years of full-time employment	50% of accrued unused sick leave	600 hours

^{*}Upon death of an employee the legal beneficiary shall be paid at the 50% rate.

For example, an employee with 15 years of service with an hourly base rate of pay of \$14.50 per hour that has a balance of 900 hours sick leave upon voluntary termination would receive a sick leave payout as follows: 900 sick leave hours multiplied by 25% = 225 hours multiplied by \$14.50 equals \$3,262.50.

Coordination of Benefits. Whenever a request for sick leave is approved, the employee who was absent from employment and whose request for sick leave was approved shall receive, as sick leave payment, a sum equal to the difference between his regular salary and any amounts payable to such employee as time loss compensation under the provisions of the Washington State Industrial Insurance Act, as the same now exists or is hereafter amended, for such time as he was absent from employment. Sick leave used for such coordination of benefits shall be prorated and the appropriate percentage of each time loss day reduced from the employee's accrued sick leave balance. No sick leave payment shall be paid for any absence from employment in excess of the accumulated sick leave of the employee. (See Occupational Disability Allowance, Article 14 of this contract.)

- 12.5 <u>Family Illness Usage</u>. Employees may use sick leave in the event of an illness in the employee's immediate family requiring the attendance of the employee. For the purposes of this section, immediate family is defined as spouse, dependent children incapable of self-care and parents. Sick and/or unpaid leave may be allowed to care for such other relatives and in such circumstances as required by state and federal leave laws and administrative regulations.
- 12.6 <u>Medical and Dental Appointments.</u> Sick leave will be allowed for doctor and dentist appointments for the employee or members of the employee's immediate family requiring the attendance of the employee. Employees shall make a reasonable effort to schedule these appointments to occur during off-duty hours.
- 12.7 **Reporting and Approval Procedure**. Employees unable to report for duty shall notify the employer's designated representative in accordance with procedures and timelines established at the department level. Employees who know in advance that they will be utilizing sick leave for a particular purpose (e.g., surgery, hospitalization, dental or medical appointments, etc.) shall give notice of the dates of such leave as far in advance of the leave as is practicable. Employees who fail to properly notify the department of an absence are subject to disciplinary action.
- Medical Verification. The City may require a physician's certification of the nature and duration of an employee's disability from work, of an employee's ability to return to work, and /or of an employee's ability to continue the full performance of his or her duties. Generally, when an employee misses three or more consecutive workdays due to illness they will be required to provide medical verification to ascertain their fitness to return to duty prior to reinstatement.
- 12.9 <u>Catastrophic Leave.</u> In order to maintain quality of life for the city's workforce the City has adopted a policy which permits City employees to voluntarily donate accumulated vacation or compensatory time off to another employee who exhausts or is likely to exhaust accumulated paid leave due to a non-occupational FMLA qualifying catastrophic medical condition of the employee or an immediate household member that would otherwise likely cause the employee to take unpaid leave or terminate employment. Upon review of this policy, Association has adopted the policy in its entirety and without revision for use of Union members.

Article 13 - Bereavement Leave

13.1 Five (5) full working days (or maximum 40 hours) without deduction from accumulated vacation or sick leave may be taken upon the death of a spouse or domestic partner*. Three (3) full working days without deduction from accumulated vacation or sick leave may be taken in the event of the death of the following members of an employee's immediate family: son, daughter, mother, father, brother, sister, grandparent, stepson, stepdaughter, stepfather, stepmother, father-in-law, mother-in-law, or grandchild the employee's domestic partner's children, parent, brother, sister (or step and in-law equivalent) of the domestic partner*.

- One (1) full working day without deduction from accumulated vacation or sick leave may be taken in the event of the death of the following close relative. Close relative shall be by blood or marriage and will include son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, aunts and uncles or foster child living in the household or the equivalent close relative of a domestic partner*.
 - Bereavement leave may be used for qualifying family members in the case of imminent death, but the total bereavement leave portion shall not exceed the workday provisions allocated for bereavement.
- 13.3 If necessary, seven (7) additional working days may be allowed with the approval of the Department Head and concurrence of the City Manager. Each day so allowed shall be deducted from the employee's vacation leave or sick leave at the employee's discretion.

Article 14 - Occupational Disability Allowance

14.1 Whenever any full time salaried employee shall suffer a service incurred disability, where such employee is entitled to receive time loss compensation under the Washington State Industrial Act, and such employee has used up all accrued sick leave benefits and received payment as provided in Section 4, Article 12 of this Contract, the City will pay to such disabled employee an occupational disability allowance equal to the difference between the prorated regular salary of such employee and the amount of State compensation to which such employee is entitled to receive as time loss, for a maximum period of not to exceed thirty (30) calendar days absent from work after the exhaustion of sick leave benefits. An employee is entitled to a maximum of thirty (30) calendar days accumulation of this Occupational Disability Allowance during his/her entire period of employment with the City. After the payment of such occupational disability allowance for the maximum period of thirty (30) calendar days, such employee shall not be entitled to receive any further benefits. (See Article 16 – Other Leaves of Absence).

Article 15 - Jury Duty

15.1 In the event any full time employee is called for jury duty, such employee shall be granted a leave of absence without loss of compensation. Any compensation, which such employee shall receive by reason of having served as a juror, may be retained by such employee in addition to such employee's regular compensation. There shall be no reduction of accrued vacation or sick leave during the period such employee is actually serving as a juror. In the event that an employee is called for jury duty and excused, prior to the end of his or her work day, such employee shall report back to work immediately and continue normal work activities until again called for jury duty.

Service as a witness in matters arising from the course and scope of employment shall be considered on-duty time if testimony is required by the City. Service as a witness or party to non-job related matters shall be charged against the employee's vacation, floating holiday or comp time balance or may be taken as unpaid leave at the option of the employee and upon department supervisor approval.

^{*}An Affidavit of Domestic Partnership must be on file in the HR Department.

Article 16 – Other Leaves of Absence

- 16.1 <u>Family, Medical and Parental Leave</u>. Employees shall be granted Family Medical Leave and parental leave for qualifying events and/or conditions in accordance with State law and/or the federal Family and Medical Leave Act and City policy. Disability leave due to pregnancy or childbirth will be granted in addition to time off for family medical leave. Employees will be required to exhaust all paid leave accruals, before leave without pay will be authorized.
- Military Leave. Any employee who is a member of a military reserve force of the United States or of the State of Washington shall be entitled to and shall be granted military leave of absence from employment, not to exceed twenty one (21) workdays during each calendar year. Such leave shall be granted in order that the person may take part in active training duty or active duty in such manner and at such times as he or she may be ordered to active training duty or active duty. Such military leave of absence shall be in addition to any vacation or sick leave to which the employee might be otherwise entitled, and shall not involve any loss of efficiency rating, privileges, or pay. During the fifteen workday period of military leave, the employee shall receive from the Employer his or her normal pay.
- 16.3 Other Leaves of Absence. Employees may request leaves of absence of up to twelve (12) months for educational reasons, medical/disability leave or compelling personal circumstances. A minimum of two (2) years service is required prior to requesting educational or personal leaves. Approval of leave requests is solely within the discretion of the City.
 - A. All requests for leaves of absence or extensions shall be submitted in writing to the department head or his/her designee and approved in advance by the City manager or authorized designee, prior to the effective date. Employees on leave of absence of 90 days or more will be required to submit to the City's pre-employment medical examination and drug screen process prior to returning to regular duty.
 - B. For unpaid leaves of thirty (30) calendar days or more, salary anniversary and seniority shall be adjusted by the full amount of the unpaid leave. Failure to return from leave shall be treated as job abandonment and may be the basis for termination.
 - C. Paid leave taken prior to going on unpaid leave shall not be counted toward the twelve (12) month maximum. Unless otherwise authorized by the department head and Human Resources, the employee must exhaust accumulated vacation, floating holidays and comp time before going on unpaid status.
- Mandatory leave. The Department Head, after consulting with the Human Resources Director or City Manager, may place an employee on an appropriate category of leave, to include unpaid time off, if it can be reasonably concluded that he/she cannot be permitted to work without risk to the health and safety of the employee, coworkers or the public. Both parties agree that in no way is mandatory leave to be used as a form of employee discipline.

Article 17 - Termination of Employment

- 17.1 An employee wishing to leave the City service in good standing shall file with the Department Head at least two weeks before leaving, a written statement as to the reasons for leaving and the effective date. The time limit of the resignation may be waived at the discretion of the Department Head concerned. The Department Head shall forward a copy of the resignation to the Human Resources Director. Failure on the part of the employee to comply with these regulations may be grounds for denial of future employment.
- 17.2 Any employee leaving City employment may request an exit interview with the Human Resources Director to convey information they believe will improve or enhance present operation procedures.
- 17.3 Employees who intend to retire should provide a minimum of thirty days written notice of the intended retirement date.
- 17.4 **Abandonment of Position.** An employee shall be considered to have resigned via abandonment of his/her position based on any of the following circumstances:
 - 1) Absence for three (3) consecutive days without notice or approval*
 - 2) Failure to return from leave of absence following the last day of approved leave after three (3) consecutive days without notice or approval*

Article 18 - Grievance Procedure

- 18.1 A grievance shall be defined to include only matters involving the interpretation, application or enforcement of the terms of this Agreement. A grievance shall be brought to the attention of the employer or its designated representative within ten (10) calendar days of the date when the employee became aware of the matter. All grievances which cannot be resolved informally between an employee and the employee's supervisor shall be resolved through the following procedure:
 - STEP 1: After the supervisor has received the grievance in writing, the supervisor shall have ten (10) calendar days within which to respond in writing. If the grievance is not resolved at this level, and if the Association's representative, after reviewing all the facts of the case known by the parties to that time, believes that the basis for a grievance exists, the employee and the employee's representative may submit the grievance to the Department Head within ten (10) calendar days. The grievance shall set forth a statement of the pertinent facts, the provision or provisions of this Agreement, which are alleged to have been violated and the relief requested. The Department Head shall have ten (10) calendar days after its presentation to attempt to resolve the grievance.
 - STEP 2: If the grievance is not settled within the time frame indicated in Step 1 and the employee and the Association wishes to pursue it further, it shall submit the grievance in writing to the City Manager within ten (10) calendar days of the response from the Department Head, setting forth the facts involved, the provision or provisions of this Agreement alleged to have been violated, and the relief

^{*}Subsequent approval may be granted for occurrences that are beyond the employee's control.

sought. The City Manager shall have ten (10) calendar days after receiving the grievance to provide his/her response. The Association may appeal the City Manager's decision to the Arbitration procedure as set forth in Article 19 within fifteen (15) calendar days from receipt of the City Manager's decision.

Any time limits specified in this grievance procedure may be waived by mutual agreement of the parties. Failure by the employee or the Association to submit the grievance in accordance within these time limits without such waiver shall constitute an abandonment of the grievance.

Article 19 - Arbitration Procedure

- 19.1 If, after fifteen (15) calendar days from receipt of the City Manager's reply, the grievance remains unresolved, the Association (with the written consent of the employee) may submit the grievance to arbitration. Such submission shall be in writing, delivered to the Department Head of the grieving employee with a copy to the City Human Resources Department.
 - Selection of an Arbitrator: Upon timely submission of a grievance to arbitration, the parties shall attempt to select an arbitrator to hear the matter. If the parties are unable to agree upon an arbitrator within ten (10) calendar days of the request for arbitration, the party initiating the grievance will request from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service or the American Arbitration Association (AAA) a list of seven arbitrators from the Oregon-Washington Region. The cost of the list, if applicable, will be equally borne by both parties. The arbitrator will be chosen from the list either by mutual agreement or by alternate striking of arbitrator names. When each party has stricken three names, the remaining arbitrator shall be appointed to resolve the grievance. The party striking the first name shall be determined by the flip of a coin. The Association representative shall call heads or tails during the coin toss, with the City representative tossing the coin.

An agreed upon Arbitrator shall hear the issue in accordance with the following procedure:

- A. The power of the Arbitrator shall be limited to interpreting this Agreement and determining if the disputed article has been violated. The decision of the Arbitrator shall be based solely on the evidence presented at the Arbitration hearing. The decision of the Arbitrator within these stated limits shall be final and binding on both parties, and it shall be rendered within thirty (30) calendar days from the date the hearing is concluded. Only one dispute or grievance shall be the subject of any arbitration unless the parties mutually agree to the contrary.
- B. No issue whatsoever shall be arbitrated or subject to arbitration unless such issue results from an action or occurrence which takes place following the execution date of this Agreement, and no arbitration determination or award shall be made by the Arbitrator which grants any right of relief for any period of time whatsoever prior to the execution date of this Agreement. In the case of a grievance involving any continuing or other money claim against the Employer, no award shall be made by the Arbitrator which shall allow any accruals for more than ten (10) calendar days prior to the date when such grievance shall have first been presented.

- C. Each party shall be completely responsible for all costs of preparing and presenting its own case, and for compensating its own representatives and witnesses (including employees released from duty to appear on behalf of the Association). If both parties desire a record of the proceedings, the cost shall be shared equally by the parties.
- D. In the event the Arbitrator finds that he/she has no authority or power to rule in the case, the matter shall be referred back to the parties without decision or recommendation on the merits of the case.
- 19.2 No time limits specified in this Article may be waived except by mutual agreement. Failure by the employee or the Association to submit the grievance in accordance with these time limits shall constitute an abandonment of the grievance.
- 19.3 It is specifically understood that any matters not included in this Agreement, including statutory provisions of Washington State Law, shall not be considered as proper bases for a grievance or subject to the grievance procedure set forth herein.
- 19.4 The provisions of this Article shall not be interpreted to require that the Association process any grievance through the grievance or arbitration procedure, which it believes in good faith, lacks sufficient merit.
- 19.5 Nothing in this Article is intended to preclude or prohibit informal discussion of a potential grievance between an employee, union representative, and the appropriate member of City Management, provided that the time limits set forth above are followed.
- 19.6 All proceedings, meetings, and discussion related to grievances shall be limited in attendance to the parties and their designated representatives. All documents and information relative to the grievance and resolution thereof shall be considered as exempt from public disclosure to the extent allowed by law, until the conclusion of the final proceeding.

Article 20 - Discipline/Discharge/Suspension

- 20.1 Probationary periods shall be as defined in Article 5.
- 20.2 New Hires. The employer may discipline or discharge an employee at any time during an initial probationary period if in the opinion of the Department Head, the probationary employee will not be able to successfully learn and perform the job for which he/she was hired. Such discipline or discharge shall not be subject to appeal.
- 20.3 <u>Promoted/Transferred Employees.</u> If in the opinion of the Department Head, the employee is unable to successfully learn and perform the job for which he/she was promoted or transferred to during their probationary trial period, the employee shall be permitted to bump back to their former Association position as provided in Article 5, section 3. Such "bump back" or promotional disqualification shall not be subject to appeal.
- 20.4 <u>Corrective Action Processes.</u> Regular employees may be disciplined in the form of a verbal warning, written warning, suspension, demotion or discharge for just cause except that verbal warnings are not grievable and grievances concerning written warnings may not be processed

beyond step 2 (City Manager). Disciplinary actions taken shall be progressive in nature, with the understanding that the disciplinary action taken will correspond to the seriousness of the violation, e.g., serious violations will generally result in the most serious levels of discipline.

- 1. In the case of a suspension, demotion or discharge, the supervisor shall meet with the employee, provide a notice setting forth the reason(s) for such action and the employee shall be entitled to respond to the reasons or recommended discipline before such action is taken. Employees are entitled to Union representation at such meetings.
- 2. Employees shall be given copies of all disciplinary notices or performance evaluations before placement of such material into their personnel file and will be required to acknowledge receipt in writing. The employee's signature shall not be construed as agreement or concurrence with the discipline or evaluation.
- 20.5 <u>Personnel Files.</u> Disciplinary materials at the level of a written warning or higher shall be maintained in the official personnel file of the employee. Access to personnel files shall be limited to the employee, his/her authorized representative, officials of the City who have a legitimate business need for the access or as required by state of federal laws.

Article 21 - Salaries

- 2.1 Salary Increase
 - A. General wage increase to all classifications of \$0.62 per hour deferred to December 31, 2015
 - B. January 1, 2016, cost-of-living increase equal to 100% CPI-W Portland, July 2014-July 2015 unadjusted to employees on the payroll 12-31-2015.
 - C. For year 2017, both parties agree to open Article 21, for the purpose of negotiating salaries and calculating the balance of 2015 deferred wages that may be applied to the 2017 medical premium. The balance of 2015 deferred wages will be determined by calculating deferred wages and subtracting a portion of the employer's annual increase in benefit premiums in 2015 and 2016.

In the event budgetary constraints result in the need for layoffs of bargaining unit employees, the parties agree to reopen wages for consideration and discussion of furlough options. Both parties understand that any modifications made to the stated Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA's) are subject to mutual agreement.

Article 22 - Seniority

22.1 Seniority shall be the length of continuous employment of an employee in a bargaining unit position. Where knowledge, abilities, full-time productivity, work habits and skills are considered to be substantially equal, the employee with seniority will be given preference in promotion and reduction of force.

22.2 Temporary employees (seasonal workers) are not bargaining unit employees. As such they are not to be given preference for overtime assignments. A temporary employee may only work overtime when/if there is not a bargaining unit employee available to perform the function needed.

Article 23 - Tuition Reimbursement

The City will conduct or direct the attendance of employees to training activities deemed necessary or as mandated by Federal, State or Local laws. The City shall bear the cost of any such training activities.

- 23.1 <u>Tuition Reimbursement.</u> Tuition reimbursement is intended to provide an incentive to employees to enhance their job-related knowledge, skills, and abilities through formal education. Classes for which reimbursement is received must be of benefit to the City and either must have a direct relationship to the employee's career with the City or be applicable to a specific, formal degree program from an accredited college or university. Tuition reimbursement shall apply only to classes or training taken on a voluntary basis.
- 23.2 Reimbursement shall be subject to available funding, prior department head approval, and in accordance with City policy. It is not the City's policy or intent to always reimburse the entire cost of an employee's tuition. The normal practice shall be that where an employee desires to pursue an accredited college course to improve his/her skills or to enhance their opportunities for future promotion, then he/she shall be entitled to reimbursement for tuition, books and fees, provided:
 - The class and educational institution are pre-approved by both the Department Head and City Manager.
 - Course is work-related, or part of a well-documented employee development and training plan (must be submitted to City Manager/Dept. Head when requesting tuition reimbursement).
 - Funds are available within the budget for the department.
 - The employee provides proof of successful completion attached to the reimbursement request.
 - Under hardship cases the City Manager may advance tuition fees to employee.
 - Tuition shall be reimbursed in full upon completion of the course, provided the employee earns a grade of C or better (or a passing mark from those institutions where traditional rating systems are not used).
 - Tuition reimbursement will not exceed \$1200 in a given calendar year.

In such situations where an employee receives tuition reimbursements (as defined above) in excess of \$500, and the employee voluntarily resigns from their position with the City, the Employee will be subject to repayment of funds as follows:

Voluntarily Resigns	Percentage of fees/tuition to be remitted back to the City
Within 12 months of completing the course/program	75%
Within 13 to 24 months of completing the course/program	50%

- 23.3 <u>Compensation for Training/Education</u>. Computation of work time while attending a training function or in traveling to and from a training function shall be in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act.
- 23.4 <u>License and Certifications.</u> The City shall reimburse or otherwise pay the cost of licenses or certifications, which are required to maintain employment in the current classification. This shall include cases where new requirements are established.

Article 24 - Layoff

- 24.1 The City may layoff an employee based on the elimination of the employee's position due to lack of work, lack of funds, reorganization, elimination or contracting out of services/functions or other similar reasons. Management will determine the position(s) to be eliminated. Employees will be laid off from the affected classification(s) in accordance with their seniority and their ability to perform the remaining work available.
 - Employees who bump downward or accept vacant positions in a lower job position/classification shall be considered laid-off from their former job position/classification for the purpose of recall rights under this Article. Forced reduction of hours shall also be considered a layoff.
- 24.2 <u>Seniority for Layoff.</u> Seniority is defined first as all continuous service in a) the person's position/classification at time of layoff and then b) continuous service in the bargaining unit. Laid-off employees with bumping/reassignment rights shall be selected to claim vacancies or bump less senior employees as defined in this section.

The following additional considerations shall apply in the event of a layoff or reassignment as warranted:

In the event of a tie in seniority and qualifications, layoff will be determined by: 1) position seniority, 2) bargaining unit seniority, 3) department seniority; 4) Citywide length of service.

When an entire classification is eliminated and replaced with a new classification (for example, Grounds Maintenance Specialist replacing a Grounds Person I), seniority in the former classification shall be added to seniority in the new classification.

Seniority in a homogeneous classification series, e.g., Grounds Person I, II, III, shall be computed as all time in any of the classifications.

Seniority rights shall not be exercised until completion of the required new hire probationary period for the classification. Employees in a promotional probationary period may not bump into other positions in the classification in which they are still on probation.

24.3 <u>Selection and Notice.</u> Employees shall be provided a minimum of fourteen (14) days notice of layoff, two (2) weeks pay in lieu of notice or a combination thereof, based on a formula of one day's pay for each day of notice given below fourteen days. One (1) week notice is

required for employees who are bumped to lower classifications. The City may issue contingent layoff notices to employees whose positions are not being eliminated but who it determines are subject to being bumped by more senior employees.

- 24.4 **Reassignment and Bumping.** Employees facing layoff shall be offered reassignment and bumping rights as indicated below. In all cases the employee must be qualified to perform the duties of the position following a reasonable period of orientation and training. In the event there is more than one qualified candidate for a position, such position shall be offered on the basis of seniority, qualifications considered. In a bumping situation, the employee may bump only into the position occupied by the most junior employee, not any less senior employee. The order of consideration shall be:
 - 1. Vacant positions in the job classification from which the employee is being laid off;
 - 2. Occupied positions in the employee's job classification held by less senior employees;
 - 3. Vacant positions in formerly held job classifications;
 - 4. Occupied positions held by less senior employees that the employee has previously held or that are part of a homogeneous job family that the more senior employee would be otherwise qualified to perform because the lower level job duties are inherently understood and/or a component of their current job function i.e. Waste Water Specialist I/II/III.
- 24.5 Employees who are laid off or reassigned in lieu of layoff shall be placed on a recall list for 18 months from the date of layoff. Seniority for recall shall be computed the same as seniority for layoff and bumping.

Laid-off employees will be offered employment in any available vacancy in a classification for which they have recall rights provided they are fully qualified for the position. In the event there are multiple employees eligible for recall within a classification and multiple positions available, Human Resources shall coordinate a placement process whereby eligible employees are placed in the most suitable positions based on interest, qualifications, and department needs, provided however that this procedure may not be used to recall a more junior employee in place of a more senior one. The intent of this language is to facilitate voluntary placements from the lists of available vacancies and employees who are being recalled. As an alternative to recall, available positions may be filled by promotion, transfer or demotion of current employees with mutual agreement of the department, Human Resources and the Association.

Laid-off employees are eligible for consideration for other positions in the City through the competitive recruitment and selection procedures and shall be allowed to compete as internal candidates (see Article 5 Section 2) for the duration of their recall rights period. Laid-off employees are responsible for making themselves aware of available positions other than those for which they are entitled to recall consideration.

24.6 **Recall Procedure.** In the event a person is on lay-off (no longer working at the City in any capacity) notice of recall shall be sent by certified mail to the last address reflected in the employee's official personnel file, and the employee must respond within fourteen (14) calendar days of the date of the notice. If the person is actively employed at the City, informal notification of the recall will be provided and a certified letter to their mailing address is not required.

The City may send out multiple recall notices and recall the most senior employee who responds within the allotted time period. The employee shall be responsible for notifying the Human Resources Department of any change in address or telephone number.

Employees may be removed from the recall list for any one of the following reasons:

- The expiration of eighteen (18) month from the date of layoff.
- Reemployment in a comparable position or job class.
- Failure to accept employment or report to work in a comparable position or job class for which the employee has the skills and abilities to perform satisfactorily.
- Failure to appear for a job interview after notification by telephone or by mail addressed to the employee's last known address on file with the City.
- Failure to respond within fourteen (14) days to a communication regarding availability of employment.
- Request in writing by the laid-off employee to be removed from the list.
- 24.7 **Rights Upon Recall.** Employees recalled from layoff shall not forfeit previously accumulated seniority and shall have all unpaid accrued sick leave as of the date of layoff restored. The seniority date shall be adjusted to reflect the time they were not actively working, but the employee shall otherwise retain all service credit held at the time of layoff. Employees recalled to their former classification shall be appointed to the step and range formerly held and credit toward the next salary anniversary date shall be continued, not including the time on layoff.

Article 25 – Special Allowance

- 25.1 <u>Tool Allowance</u>. In 2008, each employee holding the position of mechanic in Fleet Services will be provided a monthly tool allowance of \$65.00 per month. The amount of tool allowances will be increased by 3% in each successive year of the contract.
- 25.2 The City agrees to insure for fire and burglary the hand tools (including tool box and electronic test equipment) which are possession of the employee at the employee's place of work or in a City vehicle. Such coverage will only extend to the employee if there is obvious forced entry into the building or city owned vehicle or signs of catastrophic building loss due to fire, earthquake, flood, etc. and/or the tool box. Coverage does not extend to employee negligence such as not securing tools within the tool box, building, and/or city owned vehicle or normal wear and tear/loss of tools. The employee will be responsible to annually digitally photograph all tools that he/she owns and provide the City a copy of such documentation. The camera used for this purpose shall be made available by the City.
- 25.3 <u>Boot Allowance</u>. The City will provide a Safety Boot Allowance of \$100.00 per year to employees regularly assigned to field crew classifications and mechanics. The Safety/Risk manager will provide specifications for the footwear to be purchased with this allowance. All employees issued a safety boot allowance will be expected to wear these boots when working.

25.4 Multi-lingual/Communication Skills. The City acknowledges the increasing needs to serve a diverse population and agrees to provide additional compensation for employees who use a second language (including sign language) in the course of their responsibilities with the public. The proficiency skills level for qualifying for this premium will be determined by management on an as-needed basis. Management reserves the right to test employee's proficiency skills prior to authorizing a multi-lingual premium and annually thereafter. If a multi-lingual premium is authorized, it is anticipated that the employee will use the skill whenever practicable, with department permission, to perform services City-wide. Employees certified to provide multi-lingual services shall receive an additional \$50.00 per month. This premium will be pro-rated per the employee's current FTE.

Article 26 – Working Out of Classification

- An employee may be eligible for a work out of classification (WOOC) premium of five (5%) percent to his/her pay in the lower classification, unless such increase puts him/her beyond the top of the higher range. To be eligible for WOOC premium pay, the employee must be qualified to perform a significant portion of a majority of the essential job functions as outlined in the job description of the position in a higher classification, in the opinion of the department head, and must have been assigned to perform such duties, subject to the following conditions:
 - The individual is formally assigned to perform the work in writing by the employee's supervisor.
 - The assignment receives advance approval of the department head.
 - WOOC assignments may only be made to a vacant position (or one that is temporarily vacant by virtue of the absence of the incumbent due to leave or training) or for special assignment as directed and approved by the department head.
 - The assignment shall be for a period of four (4) or more consecutive regular workdays.
 - The employee shall receive WOOC for each full workday in the assigned role.
 - Employees other than Water Quality Specialists of Water Treatment Operators, who possess the skills and a valid water treatment plant operator certification of the proper level for the City's water treatment plant, and who are assigned to operate the treatment plant in the absence of a regularly assigned Specialist or Operator due to leave or training, or for a special assignment as directed and approved by the department head, shall receive premium pay. Such assignments shall be made only to cover leave or training periods or special assignment of on-half shift or longer, and such employee shall receive premium pay for each hour worked in the WOOC assignment. Such premium shall be according to the following schedule:

Current Employee Pay	Premium Pay	Premium Pay
Grade	Designation	Increment
52	FP52	5%
54	FP54	13.5%
56	FP56	21%

Article 27 - Savings Clause

27.1 Should any article, clause, section, or portion thereof of this Agreement be held unlawful and unenforceable by a Court of competent jurisdiction, such decision of the Court shall apply only to the specific article, section, or portion thereof, directly specified in the decisions; upon the issuance of such a decision the parties agree immediately to negotiate, subject to state statute, a substitute, if possible, for the invalidated article, section or portion thereof.

Article 28 - Entire Agreement

- 28.1 The Agreement expressed herein constitutes the total and full Agreement between the parties regarding wages, hours and conditions of employment, and no agreement, whether oral or in writing, nor any representation heretofore or hereafter made by either party to the Agreement, shall add to, delete from, or supersede any of its provisions, unless made in writing and executed by both parties hereto as a supplement of this Agreement.
- 28.2 The parties acknowledge that each has had the unlimited right and opportunity to make proposals with respect to any matter deemed a proper subject for collective bargaining. The results of the exercise of that right are set forth in the Agreement.

Article 29 - Termination and Renewal

29.1 This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from March 1, 2012 or on its date of execution, whichever is later, through December 31, 2014. Either party to this Agreement, wishing to renew or modify, must notify the other in writing prior to the expiration date or subsequent anniversary date of this Agreement. Such notification shall contain the substance and detail of the modification or renewal, and the specific language with such desired modification or renewal are to be expressed.

This agreement was signed by the following representatives of the City of Longview Employees Bargaining Association and the City of Longview.

For the Employer:		For the Association:	
David Campbell	Date	Jason McClung	Date
<u>Witness</u> :		<u>Witness</u> :	
Chris Smith	 Date	Eric Ferguson	 Date

APPENDIX "A"

The following classifications are those covered under the Agreement with the Longview Employee's Bargaining Association:

Administrative Assistant

Electrician

Engineering Specialist

Facilities Management Assistant

Facilities Management Technician I

Facilities Management Technician II

Fiscal/Utility Support Assistant

Fiscal/Utility Support Specialist

Fiscal/Utility Support Technician

Fleet Maintenance Mechanic

Fleet Maintenance Technician

Golf Maintenance Specialist

Golf Maintenance Technician

Information Technology Specialist

Lead Parks Maintenance Technician

Lead Street Maintenance Technician

Lead Utility Systems Operator

Library Assistant II

Library Specialist

Library Technician

Library Technician I

Library Technician II
Mail Services Assistant

Office Assistant

Parks Maintenance Technician II

Parks Maintenance Technician III

Recreation Specialist

Street Maintenance Technician II

Street Maintenance Technician III

Traffic Maintenance Specialist

Traffic Maintenance Technician

Utility Systems Operator

Utility Systems Operator II

Utility Systems Operator III

Water Treatment Operator

APPENDIX "B"

2015 Medical Insurance Rate Tables

2015 EBA MEDICAL/VISION/VEBA	A	Addend	lum B		15	
Kaiser High Deductible \$1,500/\$3,000 w/HRA/VEBA: 20% office copay after deductible; \$15/\$30 RX after deductible; Annual Out-of-Pocket Maximum \$5,000/\$10,000 Kaiser Vision: \$150 allowance every 24 months	Employee	Employee + 1 Child	Employee + 2 or more Children	Employee + Spouse	Employee + Spouse + 1 Child	Employee + Spouse + 2 or more Children
Total Monthly Premium Cost: (2015 Premium Increase of 7.30%)	\$429.60	\$619.48	\$787.88	\$848.46	\$1,038.34	\$1,206.74
Employee Monthly Contribution	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Employee Annual Cost	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Employer Monthly Base Contribution	\$429.60	\$619.48	\$787.88	\$848.46	\$1,038.34	\$1,206.74
Employer Annual Base Cost:	\$5,155.20	\$7,433.76	\$9,454.56	\$10,181.52	\$12,460.08	\$14,480.88
Total Annual Premium Cost:	\$5,155.20	\$7,433.76	\$9,454.56	\$10,181.52	\$12,460.08	\$14,480.88
Employer Monthly Contribution to HRA/VEBA	\$125.00	\$250.00	\$250.00	\$250.00	\$250.00	\$250.00
Employer Annual Contrib. to HRA less submitted medical expenses	\$1,500.00	\$3,000.00	\$3,000.00	\$3,000.00	\$3,000.00	\$3,000.00
Regence High Deductible \$1,500/\$3,000 w/HRA/VEBA: 20% office copay after deductible; 20% RX in network; Annual Out-of-Pocket maximum \$5,000/\$10,000 VSP Vision: \$25 co-pay. Lenses every 12 months. Frames every 24 months	Employee	Employee +1 Child	Employee + 2 or more Children	Employee + Spouse	Employee + Spouse + 1 Child	Employee + Spouse + 2 or more Children
Total Monthly Premium Cost: (2015 Premium Increase of 5.00%)	\$374.66	\$568.75	\$729.12	\$753.83	\$947.92	\$1,100.33
Employee Monthly Contribution	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Employee Annual Cost	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00
Employer Monthly Base Contribution	\$374.66	\$568.75	\$729.12	\$753.83	\$947.92	\$1,100.33
Employer Annual Base Cost:	\$4,495.92	\$6,825.00	\$8,749.44	\$9,045.96	\$11,375.04	\$13,203.96
Total Annual Premium Cost	\$4,495.92	\$6,825.00	\$8,749.44	\$9,045.96	\$11,375.04	\$13,203.96
Employer Monthly Contribution to HRA/VEBA	\$125.00	\$250.00	\$250.00	\$250.00	\$250.00	\$250.00
Employer Annual Contrib. to HRA less submitted medical expenses	\$1,500.00	\$3,000.00	\$3,000.00	\$3,000.00	\$3,000.00	\$3,000.00

Opt-Out/VEBA = \$825/month with acceptable assurance of coverage by an ACA compliant group health plan

DENTAL	Employee	1 Dependent	2 or more Dependents
Delta Dental of Washington Plan F			
Total Monthly Premium: (2015 Premium Increase of 8%)	\$54.79	\$103.63	\$162.21
Employee Monthly Contribution at 20%	\$10.96	\$20.73	\$32.44
Employee Annual Contribution at 20%	\$131.50	\$248.71	\$389.30
Employer Monthly Contribution at 80%	\$43.83	\$82.90	\$129.77
Employer Annual Cost	\$525.98	\$994.85	\$1,557.22
Total Annual 2012 Premium Cost	\$657.48	\$1,243.56	\$1,946.52
Willamette Dental			
Total Monthly Premium: (2015 Premium Increase of 0.00%)	\$58.20	\$109.00	\$173.70
Employee Monthly Dependent(s) Contribution at 20%	\$11.64	\$21.80	\$34.74
Employee Annual Dependent(s) Contribution at 20%	\$139.68	\$261.60	\$416.88
Employer Monthly Contribution at 80%	\$46.56	\$87.20	\$138.96
Employer Annual Cost	\$558.72	\$1,046.40	\$1,667.52
Total Annual Premium Cost	\$698.40	\$1,308.00	\$2,084.40
Kaiser Dental			
Total Monthly Premium: (2015 Premium Increase of 4%)	\$49.15	\$98.30	\$147.45
Employee Monthly Dependent(s) Contribution at 20%	\$9.83	\$19.66	\$29.49
Employee Annual Dependent(s) Contribution at 20%	\$117.96	\$235.92	\$353.88
Employer Monthly Contribution at 80%	\$39.32	\$78.64	\$117.96
Employer Annual Cost	\$471.84	\$943.68	\$1,415.52
Total Annual Premium Cost	\$589.80	\$1,179.60	\$1,769.40

APPENDIX "C"

			2015 EBA				sitions	
			(0.62/hour inc	rease effective	12/31/2015		
	Effective D	ecember '	31 2015					
	Lilective E	CCCIIIDCI	31, 2013		STEPS			
	GRADE	PER	Α	В	C	D	Е	F
	41	MO	\$3.924	\$4,122	\$4,337	\$4,548	\$4,770	\$5,002
		PP	\$1,962.00	\$2,061.00	\$2,168.50	\$2,274.00	\$2,385.00	\$2,501.00
		YR	\$47,091	\$49,462	\$52,042	\$54,579	\$57,242	\$60,029
		HR	\$22.64	\$23.78	\$25.02	\$26.24	\$27.52	\$28.86
Fiscal/Utility Support Spec.	42	MO	\$3.637	\$3,822	\$4.018	\$4.214	\$4.418	\$4.635
		PP	\$1,818.50	\$1,911.00	\$2,009.00	\$2,107.00	\$2,209.00	\$2,317.50
		YR	\$43,638	\$45,864	\$48,214	\$50,565	\$53,019	\$55,619
		HR	\$20.98	\$22.05	\$23.18	\$24.31	\$25.49	\$26.74
Administrative Assistant	43	MO	\$3,368	\$3,536	\$3,716	\$3,902	\$4,091	\$4,290
Fleet Maint. Technician		PP	\$1,684.00	\$1,768.00	\$1,858.00	\$1,951.00	\$2,045.50	\$2,145.00
Library Technician I		YR	\$40,414	\$42,432	\$44,595	\$46,821	\$49,088	\$51,480
Recreation Specialist		HR	\$19.43	\$20.40	\$21.44	\$22.51	\$23.60	\$24.75
Fiscal/Utility Support Asst.	44	MO	\$3,177	\$3,340	\$3,510	\$3,680	\$3,858	\$4,047
Office Assistant		PP	\$1,588.50	\$1,670.00	\$1,755.00	\$1,840.00	\$1,929.00	\$2,023.50
Administrative Assistant		YR	\$38,126	\$40,082	\$42,120	\$44,158	\$46,301	\$48,568
Fiscal/Utility Support Tech.		HR	\$18.33	\$19.27	\$20.25	\$21.23	\$22.26	\$23.35
Library Tech. II								
Office Assistant	45	MO	\$3,080	\$3,236	\$3,401	\$3,565	\$3,739	\$3,921
		PP	\$1,540.00	\$1,618.00	\$1,700.50	\$1,782.50	\$1,869.50	\$1,960.50
		YR	\$36,962	\$38,834	\$40,810	\$42,786	\$44,866	\$47,050
		HR	\$17.77	\$18.67	\$19.62	\$20.57	\$21.57	\$22.62
	46	MO	\$2,865	\$3,011	\$3,163	\$3,316	\$3,477	\$3,645
		PP	\$1,432.50	\$1,505.50	\$1,581.50	\$1,658.00	\$1,738.50	\$1,822.50
		YR	\$34,382	\$36,130	\$37,960	\$39,790	\$41,725	\$43,742
		HR	\$16.53	\$17.37	\$18.25	\$19.13	\$20.06	\$21.03
	47	MO	\$2,671	\$2,806	\$2,947	\$3,089	\$3,238	\$3,396
		PP	\$1,335.50	\$1,403.00	\$1,473.50	\$1,544.50	\$1,619.00	\$1,698.00
		YR	\$32,053	\$33,675	\$35,360	\$37,066	\$38,854	\$40,747
		HR	\$15.41	\$16.19	\$17.00	\$17.82	\$18.68	\$19.59
Mail Services Assistant	48	MO	\$2,302	\$2,416	\$2,538	\$2,659	\$2,785	\$2,919
		PP	\$1,151.00	\$1,208.00	\$1,269.00	\$1,329.50	\$1,392.50	\$1,459.50
		YR	\$27,622	\$28,995	\$30,451	\$31,907	\$33,426	\$35,027
		HR	\$13.28	\$13.94	\$14.64	\$15.34	\$16.07	\$16.84

	2015 EBA - Skilled Trades Positions							
			(\$0.62/hour inc	rease effective	12/31/2015		
	Effective E)	1 2015					
	Effective D	ecember 3	1, 2015					
	CDADE	DED	_		STEPS	-	-	
Plantaining	GRADE	PER	A 01.450	B	C	D 05 405	E	F
Electrician	50	MO	\$4,453	\$4,682	\$4,923	\$5,165	\$5,417	\$5,684
IT Specialist (GIS Coordinator)		PP YR	\$2,226.50	\$2,341.00	\$2,461.50	\$2,582.50	\$2,708.50	\$2,842.00 \$68,203
		HR	\$53,435 \\ \$25.69	\$56,181 ° \$27.01 °	\$59,072 ° \$28.40 °	\$61,984 [*] \$29.80 [*]	\$65,000 ° \$31.25 °	\$32.79
		ПК	\$25.09	Ψ21.01	\$20.40	\$29.60	φ31.23	φ32.7 S
Traffic Maint. Specialist	51	MO	\$4,408	\$4,633	\$4,871	\$5,110	\$5,359	\$5,623
Water Treatment Operator		PP	\$2,204.00	\$2,316.50	\$2,435.50	\$2,555.00	\$2,679.50	\$2,811.50
<u> </u>		YR	\$52,894	\$55,598	\$58,448	\$61,318	\$64,314	\$67,475
		HR	\$25.43	\$26.73	\$28.10	\$29.48	\$30.92	\$32.44
Facilities Maret Technician I	52	MO	¢4 100	¢4 412	\$4,640	¢4 967	¢5 105	¢5.25/
Facilities Mgmt Technician I Engineering Specialist	JZ	PP	\$4,198 \$2,099.00	\$4,413 \$2,206.50	\$2,320.00	\$4,867 \$2,433.50	\$5,105 \$2,552.50	\$5,35 ² \$2,677.00
Fleet Maint. Mechanic		YR	\$50,378	\$52,957	\$55,682	\$58,406	\$61,256	\$64,251
Lead Parks Maint. Tech.		HR	\$24.22	\$25.46	\$26.77	\$28.08	\$29.45	\$30.89
Lead Utility Systems Operator		TIIX	φ24.22	ΨΖΟ.40	Ψ20.77	Ψ20.00	Ψ23.40	ψ50.08
Library Specialist								
Lead Parks Maint. Tech.	53	MO	\$3,987	\$4,191	\$4,406	\$4,621	\$4,846	\$5,084
Lead Street Maint. Tech.		PP	\$1,993.50	\$2,095.50	\$2,203.00	\$2,310.50	\$2,423.00	\$2,542.00
Traffic Maint. Specialist		YR	\$47,840	\$50,294	\$52,874	\$55,453	\$58,157	\$61,006
IT Specialist		HR	\$23.00	\$24.18	\$25.42	\$26.66	\$27.96	\$29.33
Utility Systems Operator II	54	MO	\$3,893	\$4,091	\$4,302	\$4,512	\$4,732	\$4,963
		PP	\$1,946.50	\$2,045.50	\$2,151.00	\$2,256.00	\$2,366.00	\$2,481.50
		YR	\$46,717	\$49,088	\$51,626	\$54,142	\$56,784	\$59,550
		HR	\$22.46	\$23.60	\$24.82	\$26.03	\$27.30	\$28.63
Street Maint. Technician II	55	MO	\$3,780	\$3,973	\$4,177	\$4,380	\$5,113	\$4,817
Traffic Maint. Technician		PP	\$1,890.00	\$1,986.50	\$2,088.50	\$2,190.00	\$2,556.50	\$2,408.50
Facilities Mgmt Technican II		YR	\$45,365	\$47,674	\$50,128	\$52,562	\$61,360	\$57,803
Parks Maint. Technician II		HR	\$21.81	\$22.92	\$24.10	\$25.27	\$29.50	\$27.79
Golf Maint. Specialist								
Utility Systems Operator III	56	MO	\$3,661	\$3,848	\$4,044	\$4,241	\$4,448	\$4,666
Carry Cycleric Operator in	00	PP	\$1,830.50	\$1,924.00	\$2,022.00	\$2,120.50	\$2,224.00	\$2,333.00
		YR	\$43,930	\$46,176	\$48,526	\$50,898	\$53,373	\$55,994
		HR	\$21.12	\$22.20	\$23.33	\$24.47	\$25.66	\$26.92
Golf Maint. Technician	57	MO	\$3,576	\$3,758	\$3,950	\$4,143	\$4,344	\$4,557
Street Maint. Technician III	Oi	PP	\$1,788.00	\$1,879.00	\$1,975.00	\$2,071.50	\$2,172.00	\$2,278.50
Parks Maint Technician III		YR	\$42,910	\$45,094	\$47,403	\$49,712	\$52,125	\$54,683
Recreation Specialist		HR	\$20.63	\$21.68	\$22.79	\$23.90	\$25.06	\$26.29
•			, , , , ,	,			,	,
Facilities Mgmt. Assistant	58	MO	\$3,006	\$3,158	\$3,318	\$3,479	\$3,647	\$3,824
		PP	\$1,503.00	\$1,579.00	\$1,659.00	\$1,739.50	\$1,823.50	\$1,912.00
		YR	\$36,067	\$37,898	\$39,811	\$41,746	\$43,763	\$45,885
		HR	\$17.34	\$18.22	\$19.14	\$20.07	\$21.04	\$22.06
	59	MO	\$2,770	\$2,910	\$3,058	\$3,205	\$3,361	\$3,524
		PP	\$1,385.00	\$1,455.00	\$1,529.00	\$1,602.50	\$1,680.50	\$1,762.00
		YR	\$33,238	\$34,923	\$36,691	\$38,459	\$40,331	\$42,286
		HR	\$15.98	\$16.79	\$17.64	\$18.49	\$19.39	\$20.33